FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/17/2021 4:21 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 100341-2

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JARROD AIRINGTON,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR GRAYS HARBOR COUNTY

CORRECTED PETITION FOR REVIEW

TRAVIS STEARNS Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW
B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW1
C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE2
a. The court denied Mr. Airington's motion for mistrial after Mr. Craven unexpectedly appeared and testified after Mr. Airington had completed his case
b. The trial court denied Mr. Airington's motion to preclude the jury from seeing his entire criminal history, even though he did not testify
c. The trial court precluded Mr. Airington from introducing evidence that a government's witness was biased
d. Mr. Airington was found guilty and this appeal follows
D. ARGUMENT11
1. The jury should not have been allowed to view Mr. Airington's unadulterated criminal history11
a. Mr. Airington properly preserved the errors that prevented him from receiving a fair trial

criminal to a fair
17
20
t bias23
on of a ial after er Mr.
ef28
32

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

United States Supreme Court Davis v. Alaska, 415 U.S. 308, 94 S. Ct. 1105, 39 L. Ed. Old Chief v. United States, 519 U.S. 172, 117 S. Ct. 644, 136 L. Ed. 2d 574 (1997)......17, 20, 21 Washington Supreme Court Matter of Phelps, 190 Wn.2d 155, 410 P.3d 1142 (2018) State v. A.N.J., 168 Wn.2d 91, 225 P.3d 956 (2010)....29 State v. Coristine, 177 Wn.2d 370, 300 P.3d 400 (2013) \sim 22 State v. Emmanuel, 42 Wn.2d 1, 253 P.2d 386 (1953) State v. Fisher, 165 Wn.2d 727, 202 P.3d 937 (2009)..... State v. Garcia, 179 Wn.2d 828, 318 P.3d 266 (2014) State v. Goebel. 36 Wn.2d 367, 218 P.2d 300 (1950) State v. Gunderson, 181 Wn.2d 916, 337 P.3d 1090

State v. Hickman, 135 Wn.2d 97, 954 P.2d 900 (1998)
State v. Hopson, 113 Wn.2d 273, 778 P.2d 1014 (1989)
State v. Kilgore, 147 Wn.2d 288, 53 P.3d 974 (2002) 15, 22, 23
State v. Lopez, 190 Wn.2d 104, 410 P.3d 1117 (2018)
State v. Pam, 98 Wn.2d 748, 659 P.2d 454 (1983)19
State v. Smith, 103 Wash. 267, 174 P. 9 (1918)11, 17
State v. Smith, 106 Wn.2d 772, 725 P.2d 951 (1986) 12
State v. Stacy, 43 Wn.2d 358, 261 P.2d 400 (1953)29
Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984)
Washington Court of Appeals
State v. Johnson, 90 Wn. App. 54, 950 P.2d 981 (1998)
State v. Jones, 25 Wn. App. 746, 610 P.2d 934 (1980) 27
State v. Young, 129 Wn. App. 468, 119 P.3d 870 (2005)

Rules

ER 104
ER 404
ER 609
ER 613
RAP 13.31
RAP 13.4 1, 12, 20, 24, 29, 32
RAP 18.332
RAP 2.522
Constitutional Provisions
Const. art. I, § 22
U.S. Const. amend. VI
U.S. Const. amend. XIV 12, 23, 24, 30
Other Authorities
Kalven, Harry & Hans Ziesel, <i>The American Jury</i> 146 (1966)

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW

Jarrod Airington, petitioner here and appellant below, asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision dated September 30, 2021, terminating review under RAP 13.3 and RAP 13.4.

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the trial court deprive Mr. Airington of his right to a fair trial when it allowed the prosecution to introduce a document into evidence containing Mr. Airington's entire criminal history?
- 2. Did the trial court deprive Mr. Airington of his right to a fair trial when it prevented Mr. Airington from impeaching a central government witness regarding his bias and motive to lie?
- 3. Did the trial court deprive Mr. Airington of his right to a fair trial when it did not grant his motion for a mistrial after a witness Mr. Airington was

unsuccessful in interviewing appeared and testified after the close of Mr. Airington's case?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

To prepare for Jarrod Airington's trial, his attorney made multiple attempts to interview Brandon Craven, the complaining witness in Mr. Airington's case, without luck. RP 6.1 Mr. Airington's efforts included requesting an order for a deposition, which did not help. *Id*. Mr. Airington faced serious charges, including kidnapping in the first degree, assault in the second degree, unlawful possession of a controlled substance with an intent to deliver, and unlawful possession of a firearm in the first degree. CP 89.

¹ The transcripts contained in volumes I-III are referenced by page number only. Because the remainder of the transcripts are not in sequential order, they will be referred to by both the hearing date and page number.

a. The court denied Mr. Airington's motion for mistrial after Mr. Craven unexpectedly appeared and testified after Mr. Airington had completed his case.

When Mr. Airington could not find Mr. Craven, he returned to court, alerting it of his inability to interview Mr. Craven. 2/29/19 RP 25. The court found interviewing Mr. Craven "material and essential" to preparing for trial. 2/19/19 RP 29, 32-33. However, it did not grant Mr. Craven's request that the case not be allowed to proceed to trial without him being able to interview Mr. Craven. *Id.* Before trial, Mr. Airington asked the court to preclude the government from proceeding on the charges relating to Mr. Craven. RP 20. The court denied this request. *Id.*

Neither party anticipated Mr. Craven would appear for court. RP 105. Thus, the prosecution's central witness in its case-in-chief was Thomas Seward, who admitted to committing the crimes with

Mr. Airington. RP 160. Mr. Seward was offered a gross misdemeanor in exchange for his testimony. RP 178.

During the cross-examination of Mr. Seward, Mr.

Airington impeached Mr. Seward with the deal he made. RP 178, 189.

After Mr. Airington completed his defense, the government told the court it intended to recall an officer and possibly play some jail phone calls Mr. Airington made. RP 431. The next day, however, Mr. Craven appeared to testify. RP 453. Mr. Airington's attorney asked the court for a mistrial, as he was unprepared for this change in his strategy. RP 457. He told the court Mr. Craven's appearance made it impossible for him to provide effective assistance to Mr. Airington. *Id.* The court denied Mr. Airington's motion, providing him with about two and a half hours to prepare his defense. RP 464-65.

The Court of Appeals found the trial court did not abuse its discretion when it denied Mr. Airington's motion for a mistrial and ordered him to be ready to cross-examine Mr. Craven hours after his appearance. Slip Op. at 21.

b. The trial court denied Mr. Airington's motion to preclude the jury from seeing his entire criminal history, even though he did not testify.

Before trial, Mr. Airington entered into a stipulation about his criminal history, agreeing there was sufficient proof to establish the necessary predicate felony to prove unlawful possession of a firearm. RP 11.

Once the trial started, Mr. Airington alerted the court that the government intended to establish dominion and control of a room where drugs by using a prior judgment and sentence found in that room. RP 265. The judgment and sentence included his

conviction for a drug solicitation offense, his sentence of 60 months, and all of his prior criminal history. *Id*.

Mr. Airington's history was significant. It included multiple drug, weapon, assault, burglary, and theft convictions. CP 11-13. In total, the jury got to see that he had at least 17 prior felony convictions. *Id*.

2.2 Criminal History (RCW 9.94A.525):

Crime	Date of Crime	Date of Sentence	Sentencing Court (County & State)	<u>A or J</u> Adult, Juvenile	Type of Crime	DV*
VUCSA - Solicitation to Possess Heroin w/ intent to Deliver	10/8/2014	5/20/2016	Grays Harbor Superior, cause #14-1-410-1	A	FC	N
UPOF 2nd Degree	3/20/2011	6/13/2011	Grays Harbor Superior, cause #11-1-118-3	A	FC	N
DV Assault 4th Degree	4/22/2010	7/12/2010	Grays Harbor Superior, cause #10-1-175-4	A	М	Y
Possess Unlawful Weapon	6/9/2006	9/17/2009	Aberdeen Municipal, cause #C51401	A	М	N
Possess Dangerous Weapon & Recreational Fishing 2nd Degree	4/14/2003	4/15/2003	Grays Harbor District, cause #L90547	A	М	N
False Statement to Public Servant & Recreational Fishing 2nd Degree	4/14/2003	4/15/2003	Grays Harbor District, cause #L90548	A	М	N
VUCSA - Possess Methamphetamine	12/6/2002				FC	N
Possess Short-Barreled Shotgun	12/6/2002	7/29/2003	Thurston County Superior, cause #02-1-02105-4	A	FC	N
UPOF 1st Degree	12/6/2002				FB	N

CP 11 (From the current judgment and sentence).

Crime	Date of Crime	Date of Sentence	Sentencing Court (County & State)	<u>A or J</u> Adult, Juvenile	Type of Crime	DV*
Resisting Arrest & Disorderly Conduct	10/7/2001	7/18/2001	Aberdeen Municipal, cause #1-42266	A	М	N
Possess Stolen Property 2nd Degree	2/23/2001	4/23/2001	Grays Harbor Superior, cause #01-1-107-1	A	FC	N
UPOF 2nd Degree	2/28/1999	4/5/1999	Grays Harbor Superior, cause #99-1-121-7	A	FC	N
VUCSA - Possess Methamphetamine	2/5/1999	4/5/1999	Grays Harbor Superior, cause #99-1-47-4	A	FC	N
UPOF 2nd Degree	8/1/1997	9/29/1997	Grays Harbor Superior, cause #97-1-279-9	Α	FC	N
VUCSA - Possess Methamphetamine	11/27/1994	3/3/1997	Grays Harbor Superior, cause #97-1-2-8	A	FC	N
Malicious Mischief 3rd Degree	10/12/1994	10/13/1994	Aberdeen Municipal, cause #94-022286	A	М	N
Resisting Arrest	10/5/1994	10/13/1994	Aberdeen Municipal, cause #94-022235	A	М	N
Assault 4th Degree	9/19/1994	5/16/1995	Hoquiam Municipal, cause #95-214	A	М	N
Obstructing Justice	4/7/1994	4/7/1994	Olympia Municipal, cause #154416	A	М	N
Felon in Posession of a Firearm	3/9/1994		Grays Harbor Superior, cause		FC	N
VUCSA - Possession of Methamphetamine	5/27/1994	7/17/1995	#95-1-108-7	A	FC	N
DV Assault 4th Degree	3/6/1994	5/3/1994	Aberdeen Municipal, cause #94-018590	A	М	Y
DV Assault 4th Degree	2/28/1994	3/22/1999	Hoquiam Municipal, cause #94-016653	A	М	Y
Criminal Trespass 2nd Degree	10/8/1989	12/6/1991	King County District, cause #J41978	A	М	N
Escape 1st Degree	6/28/1988	8/26/1988	Mason County Juvenile, cause #88-8-89-7	1	FB	
Take Motor Vehicle Without Permission	3/1/1988	9/7/1988	King County Juvenile, cause #88-8-1087-2	J	FC	
Burglary 2nd Degree	4/9/1987	7/14/1987	King County Juvenile, cause #87-8-1784-4	J	FB	
Vehicle Prowling		7/14/1987	King County Juvenile, cause #87-8-1129-3	1	М	

CP 12 (current judgment and sentence).

Crime	Date of Crime	Date of Sentence	Sentencing Court (County & State)	<u>A or J</u> Adult, Juvenile	Type of Crime	DV*
Robbery 2nd Degree	12/9/1985	5/29/1986	King County Juvenile, cause #86-8-111-7	J	FB	N
Simple Assault		7/29/1986	King County Juvenile, cause #86-8-1687-4	J	М	
Malicious Mischief 3rd Degree		5/29/1986	King County Juvenile, cause #86-8-531-7	J	М	

CP 13 (current judgment and sentence).

Mr. Airington asked the court to preclude the document containing this history. RP 266. For purposes of showing dominion and control, the document was cumulative, as there were many other documents the government could use to establish dominion and control. RP 266-67. The document was also prejudicial, as it would alert the jury to Mr. Airington's criminal history, along with the 60-month sentence he served for his last offense. RP 266.

The court denied Mr. Airington's request to preclude the jury from seeing his past judgment and sentence. RP 267. The court stated the jury already knew Mr. Airington had a criminal history. RP 267. It

was not like Mr. Airington was "an 18-year-old kid that's never been down the road before." RP 267.

The Court of Appeals held that this evidence was "unquestionably prejudicial." Slip Op. at 15. But the Court of Appeals held that Mr. Airington's objection to the entry of the judgment and sentence into evidence did not include the criminal history found in the judgment and sentence. Id. Further, the Court of Appeals surmised that the trial judge likely did not view the evidence presented to it for admission at trial. Id. at 17, fn. 3. The Court also opined the jury was not likely to have followed its instruction to review the evidence presented to it before rendering its verdict and, therefore, probably did not look at the judgment and sentence either. Id. at 16.

c. The trial court precluded Mr. Airington from introducing evidence that a government's witness was biased.

In his own case, Mr. Airington intended to impeach Mr. Seward with a witness who Mr. Seward told that he was prepared to lie to get the deal he got and to make sure Mr. Airington was found guilty. RP 388. Relying on the prior inconsistent statement rule, the court precluded Mr. Airington from introducing this evidence. RP 394.

The Court of Appeals found no deprivation of Mr. Airington's right to present a defense, again affirming Mr. Airington's conviction. Slip Op. at 19.

d. Mr. Airington was found guilty and this appeal follows.

The jury found Mr. Airington guilty of the charged offenses. CP 31-35. At sentencing, the court imposed an exceptional sentence of 434 months. CP 15.

The Court of Appeals affirmed Mr. Airington's convictions but remanded for resentencing because several of his convictions were for possession of a controlled substance. Slip Op. at 1. This Appeal follows.

D. ARGUMENT

1. The jury should not have been allowed to view Mr. Airington's unadulterated criminal history.

"There is no more insidious and dangerous testimony than that which attempts to convict a defendant by producing evidence of crimes other than the one for which he is on trial[.]" *State v. Smith*, 103 Wash. 267, 268, 174 P. 9 (1918). Courts must be wary of allowing jurors to view prior act evidence, including criminal history, where "where the minute peg of relevancy [is] entirely obscured by the dirty linen hung upon it." *State v. Smith*, 106 Wn.2d 772, 774, 725 P.2d

951 (1986) (quoting *State v. Goebel*, 36 Wn.2d 367, 379, 218 P.2d 300 (1950)).

This Court should grant review of whether the trial court's decision to allow the jury to view Mr. Airington's criminal history over his objection requires a new trial, which is a significant question of constitutional law. RAP 13.4(a). Because this decision violated Mr. Airington's right to a fair trial, it requires reversal of his convictions and a new trial. U.S. Const. amend. VI, XIV; Const. art. I, § 22.

a. Mr. Airington properly preserved the errors that prevented him from receiving a fair trial.

The Court of Appeals held Mr. Airington did not properly object to the evidence, the jury was not likely to have reviewed the prejudicial evidence, and that the trial court was not aware of the severity of Mr.

Airington's history when it permitted the evidence to

be seen by the jury. Slip Op. 15, 17 fn. 3. These holdings are in error.

Mr. Airington objected, specifically asking the court to exclude the judgment and sentence paperwork and not just the mention of a particular charge. RP 265-66. The Court of Appeals stretches its argument to justify the trial court's ruling, despite clear precedent to the contrary.

But even if Mr. Airington had only sought to exclude the charge and 60-month sentence, his motion should have been granted. Prior criminal history is incredibly prejudicial and should only be admitted for limited purposes. *State v. Gunderson*, 181 Wn.2d 916, 921, 337 P.3d 1090 (2014) (*citing* ER 404(b)); *see also State v. Fisher*, 165 Wn.2d 727, 744, 202 P.3d 937 (2009). The presumptive rule of exclusion is grounded on the principle that the accused must be tried for the

crimes charged, not for uncharged acts. *State v*. *Emmanuel*, 42 Wn.2d 1, 13, 253 P.2d 386 (1953). Here, viewing Mr. Airington's criminal history would have been "unquestionably" prejudicial. Slip Op. at 15.

The Court of Appeals was also improperly concluded that the judge and jury did not view this evidence. Slip Op at 15, 17 fn. 3. This Court should review these conclusions of the Court of Appeals.

First, the Court of Appeals opined that the trial court was not likely to have looked at the evidence, despite allowing it to be introduced at trial. Slip Op. at 17 fn. 3. Before admitting evidence, however, a trial court must make an independent finding that the evidence comports with the rules of evidence. ER 104.

For prior act evidence, the rules of evidence require the court to find by a preponderance of the evidence that the uncharged acts probably occurred,

identify the purpose for which the evidence is admitted, find that the evidence is relevant to that purpose, and balance the probative value of the evidence against its prejudicial effect. *State v. Kilgore*, 147 Wn.2d 288, 292, 53 P.3d 974 (2002).

Review should be granted to resolve the question of what role a trial judge plays in admitting evidence to make clear that trial judges must review evidence before allowing it to be seen by the jury.

Further, the Court of Appeals thought that the jury likely did not look at the evidence, despite the rule requiring it to do so. Slip Op. at 16. Again, this was an improper minimization of the jury's role in a trial.

Here, the jury was instructed to review all of the evidence that had been submitted to it. CP 38. Jury Instruction No. 1 told the jury that "[i]n order to decide

whether any proposition has been proved, you must consider all of the evidence[.]"

This Court has always been clear that jurors are presumed to follow their instructions. *Matter of Phelps*, 190 Wn.2d 155, 172, 410 P.3d 1142 (2018) (*citing State v. Hopson*, 113 Wn.2d 273, 287, 778 P.2d 1014 (1989)). Absent evidence to the contrary, the Court of Appeals cannot premise the fairness of Mr. Airington's trial on whether the jurors disregarded their instructions. Slip Op. at 16.

Review should be granted to make clear that affirming a conviction cannot be based on the mistaken analysis that jurors do not follow their instructions or review all of their evidence before rendering a verdict.

b. Allowing the jury to see Mr. Airington's criminal history deprived Mr. Airington of his right to a fair trial.

Even without an objection, which is not the case here, Mr. Airington's criminal history should not have been put before the jury. The use of criminal history to convict a person is "insidious" and "dangerous." *Smith*, 103 Wash. At 268. Under no circumstances should criminal history be admitted because, as the trial court found, the jury probably already knew Mr. Airington was not "an 18-year-old kid that's never been down the road before." RP 267. This is an unacceptable standard.

Instead, this Court and the United States

Supreme Court have made great efforts to ensure a

person with prior history can still receive fair trials,

even if they have history. *Old Chief v. United States*,

519 U.S. 172, 191-92, 117 S. Ct. 644, 136 L. Ed. 2d 574

(1997); *State v. Garcia*, 179 Wn.2d 828, 848, 318 P.3d

266 (2014). Even when admissible, courts try to limit the prejudicial effect of criminal history, as its prejudice is so high. *Old Chief*, 519 U.S. at 191-92.

In Washington, this Court established rules for when prior history may be introduced at trial. ER 609(a). This rule is narrowly construed because of the danger of injustice associated with admitting evidence of a criminal defendant's past convictions. Garcia, 179 Wn.2d at 847. ER 609 limits the type of history and places a time limit on how long ago history is still relevant. By allowing Mr. Airington's entire history to be reviewed by the jury, as they were instructed to do in their final instructions, ER 609 was ignored in its entirety. Further, the only reason history can be admitted under ER 609 is during the examination of Mr. Airington, which did not occur here because he chose not to testify.

By disregarding ER 609, the jury got to see three pages of Mr. Airington's criminal history. This history included crimes similar to those charged in this case, which increased the likelihood of prejudice. *State v. Pam*, 98 Wn.2d 748, 760, 659 P.2d 454 (1983) (Utter, J., concurring). The trial court recognized how "powerful" the judgment and sentence evidence would be for the prosecution. RP 267. Likewise, the Court of Appeals observed this history was "unquestionably" prejudicial. Slip Op. at 15.

Further, by not reversing Mr. Airington's conviction, the Court of Appeals ruled contrary to its holding in *State v. Young*, 129 Wn. App. 468, 471, 119 P.3d 870 (2005). In *Young*, the trial court inadvertently disclosed Young's prior conviction for assault in the second degree to the jury. *Id.* If the disclosure here was inadvertent, it still was grounds for reversal of Mr.

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