FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/4/2022 10:27 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 100341-2

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent, v. JARROD ALLAN AIRINGTON, Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR GRAYS HARBOR COUNTY

THE HONORABLE DAVID L. EDWARDS, JUDGE

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

NORMA J. TILLOTSON Prosecuting Attorney for Grays Harbor County

 $\int a \int da$

WILLIAM A. LERAAS

Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

WSBA #15489

OFFICE AND POST OFFICE ADDRESS Grays Harbor County Prosecuting Attorney 102 West Broadway Room 102 Montesano, WA 98563 (360) 249-3951

$\underline{T\ A\ B\ L\ E\ S}$

This issue is not preserved for appeal.

Petitioner objected to admission of the judgment & sentence as evidence of the conviction on the face of the document, under 404(b). But 1) 404(b) governs admission of evidence of prior bad acts as character evidence; and 2) the defense never raised the issue of the criminal history table that

the Petitioner now assigns error to. His objection below was substantively different than his assignment of error on appeal.

The precise point upon which an appellant assigns error "must have been brought to the attention of the trial court and passed upon." *State v. Reano*, 67 Wn.2d 768, 771, 409 P.2d 853, 855 (1966). An objection that is insufficient to apprise the trial judge of the grounds is insufficient to preserve an issue for appeal. *State v. Hamilton*, 196 Wn. App. 461, 475 n.7, 383 P.3d 1062 (2016).

Requiring preservation also "precludes counsel from attempting to gain a tactical advantage by allowing unknown errors to go undetected and then seeking a second trial if the first decision is adverse to the client." *State v. Cardenas-Flores*, 189 Wn.2d 243, 278, 401 P.3d 19, 37 (2017) (Gonzales, J., concurring.) "The rule comes from the principle that trial counsel and the defendant are obligated to seek a remedy to errors as they occur, or shortly thereafter." *State v. O'Hara*,

167 Wn.2d 91, 98, 217 P.3d 756, 760 (2009), as corrected (Jan. 21, 2010).

Petitioner objected to the judgment & sentence on the basis of ER 404(b). RP Vol. II at 265. The trial court asked the prosecutor what crime the judgment & sentence was a record of, and the prosecutor explained he had only seen it through the evidence bag, but that the Petitioner's last conviction was for "a solicitation under [RCW Chapter] 69.50... to possess controlled substances." RP Vol. II at 266. The trial court ruled that the document was highly probative of dominion and control, any prejudice was outweighed by that probative value, and overruled the objection. RP Vol. II at 267. As noted by the Court of Appeals below:

And if a document such as a judgment and sentence is offered in its entirety and only portions are objectionable, "an objection should specify the portions which are objectionable. It is not the judge's obligation to sort out the inadmissible evidence from that which is admissible." 5 Karl B. Teglund, Washington

Practice: Evidence Law and Practice sec. 103.11, at 62-62 (6th ed. 2016) (citing cases).

Slip Op. at 17.

Only the record of the single conviction was before the trial judge and the Petitioner's objection was to the use of the prior conviction to prove the Petitioner's character.

In *State v. Powell*, *supra*, the State wanted to introduce evidence that the defendant had consumed methamphetamine before committing a burglary to show his mental state. *Powell* at 74. The defense objected on the basis that the witness who would testify about the defendant being on methamphetamine was not credible. *Id.* at 82. The evidence was admitted and the defendant appealed the decision.

The Washington Supreme Court ruled that 1) the issue was not constitutional; and 2) neither an ER 403 or 404(b) issue was preserved for appeal because trial counsel only objected to the evidence based on the witness' credibility. *Id.* at 84-85.

This Court should follow *Powell*'s precedent and rule the assignment of error unpreserved, as did the Court of Appeals, and not constitutional.

That the criminal history table was not before the trial court is critical because much of the remaining indicia in Exhibit #72 documented Petitioner's recent incarceration, but the Petitioner did not object to any of that material. RP Vol. II at 265-67. The judgment and sentence was essentially cumulative.

Petitioner argued that the judgment & sentence was barred by ER 404(b) simply because it contained a record of a prior bad act. But ER 404(b) prohibits the use of criminal history to prove action in conformity therewith. ER 404(b) is not designed to deprive the State of relevant evidence necessary to establish an essential element of its case. *State v. Foxhoven*, 161 Wn.2d 168, 175, 163 P.3d 786 (2007). The trial court was right to overrule the 404(b) objection.

Here, the judgment & sentence was evidence proving dominion and control, not character nor impeachment evidence.

The issue Petitioner raises on appeal and in his petition is not constitutional, was not preserved for appeal and this Court should not grant review on this issue.

Any error was harmless.

Error in admitting evidence of prior bad acts is nonconstitutional. *State v. Ray*, 116 Wn.2d 531, 546, 806 P.2d 1220, 1229 (1991). Therefore, any error is not reversible unless, within reasonable probabilities, it materially affected the outcome of the trial. *Id*.

In this case, it is unlikely that the document in question was what the jury relied upon to convict, or that they even looked at it. As the Court of Appeals noted:

By the time jury deliberations began, exhibit 72 had become irrelevant. Only one count of possession of methamphetamine with intent to deliver remained, and defense counsel had conceded that Mr. Airington possessed the methamphetamine, telling jurors, "Did [the

State] prove their case beyond a reasonable doubt? I would say yes on possession of methamphetamine.

Slip Op. at 16.

As the State said in closing argument, the assault and kidnapping charges came down to the credibility of the victim, Brandon Craven. RP Vol. III at 556-57. With regard to the possessory charges, the Petitioner had an even larger amount of narcotics with him in his car when he was arrested seventeen days later. RP Vol. I at 209-10. This evidence was more prejudicial than the cryptic recitation of the Petitioner's criminal history on page two of a 16-page document folded up in a bag of paper.

Petitioner cites *State v. Young*, 25 Wn. App. 468, 119 P.3d 870 (2005) for the proposition that the admission of Exhibit 72 merits reversal. However, in *Young* the prejudicial information was immediately and specifically objected to in the form of a motion for a mistrial. *Young*, 25 Wn. App. at 471.

Here, no objection was made and this issue has not been preserved.

Because the evidence against the Petitioner was overwhelming, any error in the inadvertent inclusion of the criminal history table on the judgment & sentence was harmless.

2. <u>Petitioner's proposed impeachment testimony of</u> <u>Matthew Price was inadmissible hearsay.</u>

Petitioner claims that his right to present a defense was violated when his trial attorney was not allowed to elicit hearsay from a defense witness. The right to present a defense does not allow a criminal defendant to admit inadmissible evidence. Furthermore, the defense had this information available to it when Mr. Seward was on the stand and chose not to confront him with it.

Petitioner called Matthew Price, who was incarcerated with TJ Seward, to testify. RP Vol. II at 387. The defense attempted to elicit testify from Mr. Price that Seward said he

would "would lie to the Court, would lie to the jury, would lie to anybody to make sure that he got off of his charges and make sure that [Petitioner] was convicted of the underlying offenses." RP Vol. II at 388.

However, Seward had not been confronted with any such statements. RP Vol. II at 394. The trial court ruled that such testimony was hearsay, and sustained the State's objection. RP Vol. II at 395. Trial counsel conceded the testimony was inadmissible hearsay. RP Vol. II at 395.

"'Hearsay' is a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted." ER 801(c). Hearsay is inadmissible unless an exception applies. ER 802. Appellate courts review a trial court's evidentiary decisions for an abuse of discretion. *State v. McWilliams*, 177 Wn. App. 139, 147, 311 P.3d 584, 588 (2013) (citing *State v. Thomas*, 150 Wn.2d 821, 856, 83 P.3d 970 (2004), *abrogated on other*

grounds by Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 124 S.Ct. 1354, 158 L.Ed.2d 177 (2004).) Abuse of discretion means that no reasonable person would have decided the matter as the trial court did. *Id.* (citing *Thomas*.)

In *State v. Harmon*, 21 Wn.2d 581, 152 P.2d 314, (1944) this Court held that questioning a witness about his or her out-of-court statements was necessary foundation before using those statements to impeach or show bias or prejudice:

Whether the testimony of Carriker was attempted to be introduced for the purpose of impeachment or for the purpose of showing bias or prejudice of the witness Brehan, based upon prior inconsistent statements made out of court, it is necessary, before the impeaching evidence or the evidence by which it is attempted to show bias or prejudice can be introduced, that the attention of the witness be called to the contradictory statements, the time when and the place where they were made, and the circumstances surrounding the making.

Harmon, 21 Wn.2d at 590 (emphasis added).

In *Harmon* the trial court's decision to prohibit the defense from calling a witness to impeach the State's witness

was upheld because such foundation had not been laid. *Id.* at 591.

Here, as in *Harmon*, the Petitioner failed to lay the foundation to impeach Seward with Matthew Price's testimony that Seward said he would lie, which was clearly offered to try to prove Seward had lied to the jury.

Although the right to present a defense is guaranteed by both the State and Federal constitutions, the right to present a defense "does not extend to the introduction of otherwise inadmissible evidence." *State v. Aguirre*, 168 Wn.2d 350, 363, 229 P.3d 669, 675 (2010).

Petitioner cites *Davis v. Alaska*, 415 U.S. 308, 94 S.Ct. 110, 539 L.Ed.2d 347 (1974) for the proposition that the constitution compels the admission of the inadmissible hearsay in the name of the right to present a defense. But that case is inapposite because its ruling is based on the right to confront.

In *Davis*, the defendant was on trial for burglarizing a bar. *Davis* at 309. 17-year-old Richard Green testified that he witnessed two men near his house, and identified the defendant as one of the men, and said he had had a crowbar. *Id.* at 310. Apparently, the safe stolen from the bar was found on Green's property. *Id.* at 312. Green was on probation to the juvenile court for having burgled two cabins. *Id.* at 310-11.

The prosecutor moved to exclude evidence of Green's juvenile record. *Id*. The defendant argued that he should be able to use Green's probation status to show that Green may have made a hasty and faulty identification, was trying to divert attention away from himself as a potential suspect, or was subject to undue pressure for fear of having his probation revoked. *Id*. at 311. However, the trial court excluded the evidence that Green was on probation. *Id*.

The U.S. Supreme Court reversed, finding that the defendant's Sixth Amendment right to *confrontation* had been violated by the *limitation on cross-examination*. *Id.* at 315.

This differentiates *Davis* from the instant case because here the Petitioner's attorney never asked TJ Seward about the alleged out-of-court statements about his intent to lie. Had he done so, the testimony of Price may have been proper impeachment evidence, as the trial court indicated. *See* RP Vol. II at 394.

The case of *Massey v. United States* is on point. In *Massey*, a rape case, the 9th Circuit Court of Appeals held that the defense could not call a witness to testify about out-of-court statements made by a witness who wasn't asked about those statements. *Massey v. United States*, 407 F.2d 1126, 1127-28 (9th Cir. 1969). In that case, the defense asked the victim, Evangeline, if she had ever gone out with someone named Sherman Wool. *Id.* Her answers were inconclusive. *Id.* The

defense then proceeded to call a nurse from a hospital Evangeline had received treatment. *Id.* at 1128. The defense asked the nurse if Evangeline had said she had lived with Sherman Wool. *Id.* The nurse answered yes. *Id.* The court struck this testimony. *Id.*

The defendant assigned error to this ruling, claiming that it was probative evidence of prior acts of unchastity. *Id.* But the 9th Circuit ruled that the nurse's testimony was hearsay, and not admissible for impeachment because the proper foundation, that of asking Evangeline about the statements, had not been laid. *Id.*

Just like *Massey*, without questioning Seward about the alleged statements, Price's testimony lacks foundation to be impeachment evidence, and is inadmissible hearsay. The trial court was right to exclude it.

Harmless error.

Even if the trial court's decision was error, it was harmless in context of the entire trial. A reviewing court evaluates hearsay in the context of all the other evidence presented at trial. *State v. Watt*, 160 Wn.2d 626, 633, 160 P.3d 640 (2007).

Even if this were a constitutional error, as Petitioner alleges, confrontation clause errors are subject to harmless error analysis. *State v. Watt*, 160 Wn.2d 626, 635, 160 P.3d 640, 644 (2007).

In the end, Craven's testimony was vastly more important than Seward's, who was an unwilling, almost hostile witness for the State. And Craven's testimony was corroborated by the physical evidence, including the fact that his blood was found smeared in the house, Erick Knight's testimony, weapons matching his description found in the house, and most compellingly, his injuries, which were

observed by both Ms. Heath and Mr. Dawson and photographed by Officer Blundred.

As noted previously, the defense had the alleged information from Mr. Price that Mr. Seward intended to lie but chose not to confront him with it. Furthermore, the defenses' own witness, Mr. Jenkins, laid the blame on Mr. Seward. When cross examined he admitted his testimony was inconsistent with his statements to police, but claimed Mr. Seward had threatened him into making those statements to the police. Although not impeachment evidence, it certainly did not put Mr. Seward's testimony in a very favorable light and probably had the same effect as if he had been impeached. The jury probably got the idea they were not dealing with a bunch of Rhodes Scholars.

Questionable testimony by Price, an admitted felon, that Seward, another admitted felon, had said he would lie while in jail, would have been cumulative and relatively unimportant.

3. <u>Allowing the testimony of Brandon Craven in rebuttal</u> was not error.

Petitioner claims it was error to allow the State to present this rebuttal evidence because he had to change his defense, which he never alleged below. But rebuttal evidence may consist of evidence that could have been introduced during a case-in-chief. There was no error.

This alleged error is not preserved for appeal.

When Craven appeared in the State's rebuttal case, the Petitioner asked 1) for the trial court to grant a previously denied motion to dismiss for government mismanagement for losing track of Craven; or, in the alternative 2) for a mistrial. RP Vol. III at 457-58. Petitioner's trial counsel never said that the defense, which had been a total denial of all criminal conduct, had changed. Craven did not bring any new allegations against the Petitioner. He simply gave another account of what had already been presented.

However, for the first time on appeal, the Petitioner claims that he had only two hours to "alter his defense, which had substantially changed" due to the testimony of Craven, Brief of Appellant page 37, and that his "trial strategy was in a shambles." Petition page 31.

"A party may assign evidentiary error on appeal only on a specific ground made at trial." *State v. Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d 918, 926, 155 P.3d 125, 130 (2007) (citing *State v. Guloy*, 104 Wn.2d 412, 422, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985), *cert. denied*, 475 U.S. 1020, 106 S.Ct. 1208, 89 L.Ed.2d 321 (1986).) "The rule comes from the principle that trial counsel and the defendant are obligated to seek a remedy to errors as they occur, or shortly thereafter." *State v. O'Hara*, 167 Wn.2d 91, 98, 217 P.3d 756, 760 (2009), *as corrected* (Jan. 21, 2010). "The appellate court may refuse to review any claim of error which was not raised in the trial court." RAP 2.5(a).

Petitioner did not object on the basis that he assigns as error on appeal and, for that reason, this court should not grant review.

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